#### Case No. 81689

#### In the Supreme Court of Nevada

TRUDI LEE LYTLE; and JOHN ALLEN LYTLE, as trustees of THE LYTLE TRUST,

Appellants,

vs.

SEPTEMBER TRUST, DATED MARCH 23, 1972; GERRY R. ZOBRIST AND JOLIN G. ZOBRIST, as trustees of the GERRY R. ZOBRIST AND JOLIN G. ZOBRIST FAMILY TRUST; RAYNALDO G. SANDOVAL AND JULIE MARIE SANDOVAL GEGEN, as Trustees of the RAYNALDO G. AND EVELYN A. SANDOVAL JOINT LIVING AND DEVOLUTION TRUST DATED MAY 27, 1992; DENNIS A. GEGEN AND JULIE S. GEGEN, Husband and wife, as joint tenants,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Jun 22 2022 11:25 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### **JURISDICTION**

Trudi Lee Lytle and John Allen Lytle, as trustees of The Lytle Trust ("Lytles" or "the Lytle Trust"), appeal from an award of attorney fees and costs (6 App. 1327), which is appealable as "a special order entered after final judgment" pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(8). Notice of entry of the order was served on August 11, 2020, and the Lytle Trust timely appealed on August 21, 2020. (6 App. 1338.)

The district court amended its rationale for the fee award (6 App. 1484) following an order of this Court granting limited remand (Doc. 21-10452). Notice of entry of that order was served on May 4, 2021 (6 App. 1481), after which the Lytle Trust amended its appeal to include it on June 3, 2021. (6 App. 1496.)

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This appeal presumptively would be routed to the Court of Appeals because it contests a post-judgment award of fees and costs in a civil case, and the award is less than \$250,000 in amount. See NRAP 17(b)(5, 7). As a practical matter, however, the appeal should be routed to whichever court will resolve the pending writ proceeding in which

appellants are contesting the contempt order underlying this award of fees and costs, *Lytle v. Eighth Judicial District Court* (case no. 84538).

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Must an award of attorney fees and costs be reversed when an underlying decision upon which the award was based is reversed?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order granting fees and costs entered by THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY WILLIAMS, in part for attorney time and expenses incurred in moving to hold defendant-appellants in contempt for allegedly violating an injunction order, which contempt order now is under review in case no. 84538.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant-appellants Trudi Lee Lytle and John Allen Lytle, as trustees of The Lytle Trust ("Lytles" or "the Lytle Trust") own a lot in a residential subdivision governed by the nonprofit corporation Rosemere Estates Property Owners Association (the "Association"). The Association consists of nine lot owners. Plaintiff-respondents are four of the nine property owners who also are members of the Association (these "Property Owners").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The plaintiff-respondents are (1) SEPTEMBER TRUST, DATED MARCH 23, 1972; (2) GERRY R. ZOBRIST and JOLIN G. ZOBRIST, as trustees of the GERRY R. ZOBRIST AND JOLIN G. ZOBRIST FAMILY TRUST; (3) RAYNALDO G. SANDOVAL and JULIE MARIE SANDOVAL GEGEN, as Trustees of the RAYNALDO G. AND EVELYN A. SANDOVAL JOINT LIVING AND DEVOLUTION TRUST DATED MAY 27, 1992; and (4) DENNIS A. GEGEN and JULIE S. GEGEN.

The subject order awards fees and costs in part for attorney time and expenses incurred while seeking to have the Lytles held in contempt of a permanent injunction.

#### The Lytle Trust Procures Judgments Against the Association

Through the Association, the Lytles' neighbors waged vicious battles with them for more than a decade ("Rosemere Litigation"), resulting in entry of three judgments in favor of the Lytle Trust against the Association ("Rosemere Judgments"), which have a current combined balance of more than \$1.8 million. (3 App. 529, 3 App. 532, 3 App. 535.) The Association's actions against them were so outrageous that the Rosemere Judgments include a punitive damage award in excess of \$800,000. (3 App. 533.) These judgments, the last of which was entered in 2017, have never been reversed or otherwise invalidated.

#### The Lytle Trust is Enjoined from Enforcing the Judgments Directly Against the Association's Members

Although its judgments were against the "Rosemere Estates

Property Owners Association," the Lytle Trust recorded abstracts of the
judgment directly against their neighbors' properties. (3 App. 529, 532.)

In various consolidated suits, some of the property owners sued the Lytle Trust seeking declaratory and injunctive relief to restrain the Lytle Trust from foreclosing on their properties, and to strike the abstracts of judgment clouding their titles. (3 App. 540, 624.) The district court granted that relief in multiple orders, which were appealed and affirmed. (See Case nos. 73039 and 76198.) The district court also awarded fees to the various property owners arising from the injunction actions, which orders also were appealed and affirmed. (Case nos. 77007 and 79753.)

The basis for the district court's (Judge Bailus's) permanent injunction in favor of the Property Owners, entered on May 24, 2018 ("May 2018 Order"), was twofold. First, the Property Owners were "not parties" in the Rosemere Litigation. (3 App. 630:1–4.) The judgment debtor is the Association, not the Property Owners. (3 App. 631:5–9.) Second, the Association is not the kind of homeowners' association that is subject to NRS 116.3117, which allows judgment creditors of an association to record judgments directly against all association homeowners' properties. (3 App. 630:20–24.)

Accordingly, the district court's May 2018 Order permanently enjoined the Lytle Trust from recording or enforcing its judgments directly against the non-party Property Owners:

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the Lytle Trust is permanently enjoined from recording and enforcing the Judgments obtained from the Rosemere Litigation I, Rosemere Litigation II and Rosemere Litigation III, or any other judgments obtained against the Association, against the September Property, Zobrist Property, Sandoval Property or Gegen Property.

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the Lytle Trust is permanently enjoined from taking any action in the future *directly* against the Plaintiffs or their properties upon the Rosemere Litigation I, Rosemere Litigation II, or Rosemere Litigation III.

(3 App. 633:10-19 (emphasis added).)

The district court never enjoined the Lytle Trust from enforcing its judgments against the judgment-debtor Association or otherwise restricted its right to collect the judgments lawfully. (*Id.*) Indeed, the Association is not even a party below. Nor did the district court alleviate these Property Owners of any duties they might owe to the Association to enable the Association to satisfy *its* debts under ordinary corporate, contract or statutory principles. (*Id.*)

#### This Court Affirms the Injunction

The Lytle Trust appealed the May 2018 Order in case no. 73039. This Court affirmed that injunction specifically on the grounds that the Property Owners were not parties to the Rosemere Judgments and that NRS 116.3117 does not apply to this Association. *See* March 2, 2020 "Order of Affirmance," Doc. # 20-08333, at 3-4 (1 App. 123–24.)

The District Court Holds the Lytle Trust in Contempt of the Injunction for Petitioning for Appointment of a Receiver

After the district court permanently enjoined the Lytle Trust from enforcing the judgments directly against the non-party, non-judgment-debtor Property Owners, the Lytle Trust focused its collection efforts on the judgment-debtor Association. Because the Association's officers had resigned and allowed the Association to become defunct after the Lytle Trust obtained their judgments, the Lytle Trust commenced an action

for appointment of a receiver<sup>2</sup> to, among other things, satisfy the judgments.<sup>3</sup>

These Property Owners reacted to the receivership action by reopening the underlying case, and moving Judge Williams to hold the Lytle Trust in contempt for violating Judge Bailus's May 2018 Order. (3 App. 670.) Although the receiver was appointed over the judgment-debtor Association, the Property Owners argued the receivership petition violated the May 2018 Order *indirectly* because the Association would have to issue assessments against the Property Owners to satisfy the Rosemere Judgments. (3 App. 676.) Despite the Lytle's explanation of why appointment of a receiver over the judgment-debtor Association was perfectly consistent with the May 2018 injunction that precluded

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Trudi Lee Lytle and John Allen Lytle, as Trustees of the Lytle Trust v. Rosemere Estates Property Owners' Association, Eighth Judicial District Court, case no. A-18-775843-C, pending before The Honorable Joanna S. Kishner ("receivership action").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> To ensure the receiver would have the same powers the Association otherwise had, the petition sought to vest the receiver with broad powers. (3 App. 652.) These powers included issuing assessments to satisfy the Association's debts and judgment obligations, as well as placing liens on properties of Association members who did not pay. (*See* 3 App. 654.) The Lytles knew the Association had exercised these assessment and lien powers in the past. (3 App. 698.)

direct execution of their judgments against non-parties,<sup>4</sup> the district court held the Lytles in contempt. The court reasoned that "[t]he May 2018 Order's permanent injunction clearly precluded the Lytle Trust from doing anything as it relates to enforcing and recording the Rosemere Judgments against the [Property Owners] or their properties." (1 App. 82 (emphasis added)). The court concluded "the Lytle Trust has no judgment creditor rights to try to collect the Rosemere Judgments from the Plaintiffs or Dismans in any way, shape, or form." (Id. at 1 App. 82.) As the court further explained in ruling on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As detailed in appellants' writ petition pending before this Court in case no. 84538, the Lytle Trust opposed the motion on several grounds. It is commonplace to appoint receivers over non-paying judgment debtors. (Writ Petition at 7, case no. 84538.) The Lytle Trust's effort to enforce the judgment against the Association was correct for the same reason its previous liens directly against the Property Owners had been misguided; the Association is the judgment debtor and an independent corporate entity separate and distinct from its property owner members. (Id.) Judge Bailus's May 2018 Order did not enjoin the Lytle Trust from lawfully enforcing its judgments against the judgmentdebtor Association. (3 App. 633.) And the May 2018 Order did not eliminate the Association's obligation to pay its debts, or strip its power to assess its members to pay those debts, nor could the order do such because the Association was not a party to the action. In short, the Property Owners were not somehow immunized from the consequences of their Association gathering funds to pay its debts merely because the Lytle Trust had been enjoined from going around the Association to lien their properties directly. (3 App. 633.)

a motion for clarification, "any" action means "direct or *indirect*." (Writ Petition at 9, case no. 84538.) Thus, the court extrapolated that even collection efforts aimed directly against the judgment-debtor Association that "results in payment of the Judgments by the Plaintiffs" violates the May 2018 Order. (*Id.* (emphasis added).)

#### The District Court Awards Fees and Costs Based on the Contempt Order

On August 11, 2020, the district court awarded respondents fees in the amount of \$76,304.67. (6 App 1336.) The district court also awarded costs in the amount of \$4,145.08. (6 App. 1337.) Part of the award stems from time and expenditures incurred prior to the contempt proceedings. But \$20,928.36 of it relates to respondents' efforts to procure the Contempt Order pursuant to NRS 22.100(3). (1 App. 65; 2 App. 305; 6 App. 1330-33; 8 App. 1538–39.)

## The Contempt Order Currently is Under this Court's Review

The Lytles have sought this Court's review of the contempt order.

On April 11, 2022, they filed a "Petition for Writ of Mandamus or,

Alternatively, Prohibition," which initiated case no. 84538. See Doc. #

2022-11390. It remains pending.

This appeal followed.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The portion of the subject award of fees and costs attributable to the Contempt Order will have to be reversed when this Court determines the district court abused its discretion and grants the Lytle's writ petition in case no. 84538.

#### **ARGUMENT**

When this Court grants the Lytles' writ petition, the award of fees and costs attributable to the contempt order must be reversed as well.

# A. A Fee Award Must Be Reversed When the Underlying Decision on Which it Is Predicated Is Reversed

If this Court reverses or remands a decision on which fees and costs subsequently have been granted, it likewise must reverse and remand that award of attorney fees and costs. See Frederic & Barbara Rosenberg Living Tr. v. MacDonald Highlands Realty, LLC, 134 Nev. 570, 579–80, 427 P.3d 104, 112 (2018) (concluding an award of attorney fees and costs must necessarily be reversed when the underlying decision upon which the award was based is reversed); Bower v.

Harrah's Laughlin, Inc., 124 Nev. 470, 495–96, 215 P.3d 709, 726 (2009) (citing Doud v. Las Vegas Hilton Corp., 109 Nev. 1096, 1106, 864 P.2d 796, 802 (1993)) ("Notably, if we reverse the underlying decision of the district court that made the recipient of the costs the prevailing party, we will also reverse the costs award.").

## B. A Portion of the Award of Fees and Costs is Attributable to the Contempt Order

The subject award of fees and costs is based in significant part on the Contempt Order. Specifically, the district court awarded fees pursuant to NRS 22.100(3), which provides:

...if a person is found guilty of contempt pursuant to subsection 3 of NRS 22.010, the court may require the person to pay to the party seeking to enforce the writ, order, rule or process the reasonable expenses, including, without limitation, attorney's fees, incurred by the party as a result of the contempt.

(See 6 App. 1350.) Thus, the portion of the award of fees and costs attributable to the contempt proceedings must be reversed when this Court grants the Lytles' pending writ petition.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the forgoing reasons, the portion of the district court's order awarding fees and costs for time and expenditures to procure the Contempt Order must be reversed when this Court grants the Lytles' writ petition in case no. 84538.