IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TRUDI LEE LYTLE and JOHN ALLEN LYTLE, as trustees of THE LYTLE TRUST,

Appellants,

VS.

SEPTEMBER TRUST, DATED MARCH 23, 1972; GERRY R. ZOBRIST AND JOLIN G. ZOBRIST, as trustees of THE GERRY R. ZOBRIST AND JOLIN G. ZOBRIST FAMILY TRUST; RAYNALDO G. SANDOVAL AND JULIE MARIE SANDOVAL GEGEN, as trustees of THE RAYNALDO G. AND EVELYN A. SANDOVAL JOINT LIVING AND DEVOLUTION TRUST DATED MAY 27, 1992; DENNIS A. GEGEN AND JULIE S. GEGEN, HUSBAND AND WIFE, AS JOINT TENANTS,

Respondents.

No. 81689

Electronically Filed Jul 19 2022 03:03 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The issue presented—whether a fees award should be reversed when the underlying decision on which the fees award was based is reversed 1—requires consideration of very few facts to resolve. These facts are limited to the following:

- By a written order issued on May 22, 2020, the district court held the Lytle Trust in contempt of violating an Injunction affirmed by this Court. (1 App. 70-86.)²
- On August 11, 2020, the district court issued an order awarding fees to the Respondents in the amount of \$76,304.67. (6 App. 1336.)
- The Fees Order was amended on May 4, 2021, without changing the amount of fees awarded. (6 App. 1481-95.)
- \$20,928.36 of the fees awarded relates to Respondents' efforts to procure the Contempt Order pursuant to NRS 22.100(3). (1 App. 65; 2 App. 305; 6 App. 1330-33; 8 App. 1538–39.)
- The Lytle Trust filed an appeal of the Contempt Order on August 11, 2020, initiating Case No. 81390, which was dismissed by the Supreme Court on February 18, 2022 (Doc. # 2022-05423), thus leaving the Contempt Order in force.

¹ As shown below, this Court has previously decided this issue and an appeal is not required to accomplish the desired result, demonstrating that this Appeal was completely unnecessary.

² The Injunction upon which the Contempt Order is based was affirmed on March 2, 2020, in *Lytle v. September*, Nos. 76198 & 77007, Doc. 2020-08333, 458 P.3d 361 (Table), 2020 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 237, *3 (Nev. 2020).

- The Lytle Trust filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus or Alternatively, Prohibition ("Writ Petition") seeking extraordinary relief from the Contempt Order on April 11, 2022, which initiated Case No. 84538.
- The Respondents filed an Answer to the Writ Petition in Case No. 84538 as Real Parties in Interest on June 9, 2022 (Doc. # 2022-18349), wherein they opposed issuance of an extraordinary writ.
- As of the date of filing this brief, no decision has been entered on the Writ Petition, and the Contempt Order remains in full force and effect.

ARGUMENT

It is not proper to reverse the Fees Order because the Contempt Order from which it sprung remains in full force. Even if the Contempt Order is reversed, which is not the subject of this Appeal, the proper mechanism for addressing the Fees Order is a motion for relief from the Fees Order under NRCP 60(b)(5). Therefore, this Appeal is both premature and procedurally improper and should be dismissed.

A. The district court's award of fees for contempt was proper under NRS NRS 22.100(3).

The Lytle Trust's sole argument on appeal is that the fees award must be reversed when the Contempt Order is reversed. *See* Appellants' Amended Opening Brief, Doc. 2022-19702. There are no other grounds argued for reversal. *Id.* Thus, the Lytle Trust agrees that the district court properly awarded fees for contempt under NRS 22.100(3), so long as the underlying Contempt Order is undisturbed. The Contempt Order has not been reversed as of the date of filing this answering brief. Thus, this Appeal is moot and must be dismissed.

B. The petition for extraordinary relief does not affect the Contempt Order or provide grounds for reversal of the Fees Order until it is actually decided by the reviewing court.

The Lytle Trust appealed the Contempt Order and that appeal was dismissed by this Court. *See* Case No. 81390, Doc. # 2022-05423. The fact that the Lytle Trust has now filed a petition for extraordinary relief from the Contempt Order does not affect the Contempt Order or Fees Order in any way unless and until the Writ Petition is decided *in their favor*. This is long-settled black letter law.

An injunction duly issuing out of a court of general jurisdiction...must be obeyed...however erroneous the action of the court may be, even if the error be in the assumption of the validity of a seeming but void law going to the merits of the case. It is for the court of first instance to determine the question of the validity of the law, and until its decision is reversed for error by orderly review, either by itself or by a higher court, its orders based on its decision are to be respected, and disobedience of them is contempt of its lawful authority, to be punished.

Howat v. Kansas, 258 U.S. 181, 190, 42 S. Ct. 277, 281 (1922); People v. Nance, 189 Ill. 2d 142, 145, 244 Ill. Dec. 1, 3, 724 N.E.2d 889, 891 (2000) ("An injunction remains in full force and effect, however, until it has been vacated or modified by the court which granted it or until the order or decree awarding it has been set aside on appeal. Unless it has been overturned or modified by orderly processes of review, an injunction must be obeyed, even if it is erroneous.").³

_

³ The Writ Petition did not stay the Contempt Order. *See Nken v. Holder*, 556 U.S. 418, 129 S.Ct. 1749, 1760-61 (2009) (The grant of a stay pending appeal is "not a matter of right" but rather "an exercise of judicial discretion" and "the party requesting a stay bears the burden of showing that the circumstances justify an exercise of that discretion."); NRAP 8(a)(1)(C) (a party must move the district court for "an order suspending, modifying, restoring or granting an injunction while an appeal or original writ petition is pending.").

Therefore, this Appeal is based on the mere possibility of a future event, and it fails this Court's test for justiciability:

Generally, we will not decide moot cases. *Nat'l Collegiate Athletic Ass'n v. Univ. of Nev., Reno*, 97 Nev. 56, 58, 624 P.2d 10, 11 (1981). A case is moot if it "seeks to determine an abstract question which does not rest upon existing facts or rights." *Id.* Mootness is a question of justiciability. *Personhood Nev. v. Bristol*, 126 Nev. 599, 602, 245 P.3d 572, 574 (2010). The dispute must continue through all of the controversy's phases. *Id.* A case may become moot due to later occurrences despite the existence of a "live controversy" at the beginning of the litigation. *Id.*

Newman v. State, 132 Nev. 340, 344, 373 P.3d 855, 857 (2016); see also Allstate Ins. Co. v. Thorpe, 123 Nev. 565, 568, 170 P.3d 989, 991 (2007) (courts lack jurisdiction to rule on issues that are not yet ripe for decision). Because there has been no decision vacating the Contempt Order, there is no "live controversy" upon which this Appeal may be maintained. The Court cannot decide this Appeal in the Appellant's favor based on the mere possibility of a future event. If this Appeal is decided prior to decision on the Writ Petition, the Appeal must be dismissed as either premature or moot.

C. The most likely outcome is denial of the Writ Petition, which would result in no grounds for reversal of the Fees Order.

The underlying Injunction was affirmed by this Court and the Appellants' first attempt to reverse the Contempt Order already failed. The possibility of reversal of the Contempt Order as a result of the Writ Petition is highly improbable.⁴ The relief

4

⁴ This Appeal is not the vehicle for substantive review of the Contempt Order, which can now only be addressed in the Writ Petition. To the extent that the Court determines that it must look at the merits of the Writ Petition to decide this Appeal,

sought by Appellants in the Writ Petition is called extraordinary for a reason. Its consideration is "purely discretionary," *Smith v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 107 Nev. 674, 677, 818 P.2d 849, 851 (1991), and is subject to the challenging "manifest abuse of discretion" standard of review. *Pengilly v. Rancho Santa Fe Homeowners Ass'n*, 116 Nev. 646, 650, 5 P.3d 569, 571-72 (2000). "Proper deference" must be given "to the district court's intricate knowledge of the proceedings." *In re Water Rights of the Humboldt River*, 118 Nev. 901, 907, 59 P.3d 1226, 1229 (2002). Contempt orders "should not lightly be overturned" because "[w]hether a person is guilty of contempt is generally within the particular knowledge of the district court." *Pengilly*, 116 Nev. at 650, 5 P.3d at 571. For these reasons, Respondents believe that the Writ Petition will be denied. In that circumstance, the Fees Order cannot be reversed on this Appeal because there are no other grounds argued by the Appellants.

D. This Appeal is unnecessary and procedurally improper.

In the unlikely event that the Writ Petition is granted and the Contempt Order is reversed, the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure provide a mechanism for addressing the Fees Order with the district court. Under NRCP 60(b)(5), the Lytle Trust could move for relief from the Fees Order because it would be "based on an earlier judgment that has been reversed or vacated." A separate appeal is a waste of this Court's resources because Rule 60(b) provides a complete and adequate procedure under the circumstances.

the Respondents hereby request that the Court take judicial notice of their Answer of Real Parties in Interest to Petition for Writ of Mandamus, or Alternatively, Prohibition, filed on June 9, 2022 in Case No. 84538, Doc. 2022-18349, which Respondents hereby incorporate by reference.

The cases cited by the Appellants do not require a different result or justify this Appeal. In each instance, the Court reversed the judgment and the resulting fee award in the same order. See Frederic & Barbara Rosenberg Living Tr. v. MacDonald Highlands Realty, LLC, 134 Nev. 570, 579-80, 427 P.3d 104, 112 (2018) (in a consolidated appeal, the Court reversed judgment as to a particular claim and the associated fees award in the same order); Bower v. Harrah's Laughlin, Inc., 125 Nev. 470, 495–96, 215 P.3d 709, 726 (2009) (in a consolidated appeal, the Court reversed summary judgment and an award of attorney fees and costs in the same order); Doud v. Las Vegas Hilton Corp., 109 Nev. 1096, 1106, 864 P.2d 796, 802 (1993)) (the Court reversed summary judgment and fees award in same case and order). There is no authority cited by the Appellants justifying deviation from the procedural mechanism found in Rule 60 here. If anything, these cases demonstrate that the district court is extremely likely to grant a Rule 60(b) motion for relief from the Fees Order if the Writ Petition results in vacation of the Contempt Order. Most importantly, requiring the Appellants to utilize Rule 60 instead of proceeding with this Appeal avoids the issues of justiciability discussed above.

E. This Appeal was maintained for an improper purpose.

As shown above, binding Nevada case law already requires reversal of a fees award if the underlying ruling on which the award was based is reversed. Controlling Court Rules direct the Appellants to bring a motion to the district court to obtain that result. This, coupled with the fact that the Lytle Trust offered no argument for reversal of the Fees Order itself (arguing only that if the Writ Petition is granted the fees award must be reversed) proves that this Appeal can provide no benefit to the

Appellants independent of the separate Writ Petition already on file. In other words, this Appeal is wholly frivolous. It could only have been maintained to force Respondents to incur yet additional fees. *See* NRAP 28.2(2) (requiring a certificate from an attorney representing that every appeal brief is "not frivolous or interposed for any improper purpose, such as to harass or to cause unnecessary delay or *needless increase in the cost of litigation*" (emphasis added)); NRAP 38(a) ("If the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals determines that an appeal is frivolous, it may impose monetary sanctions").

CONCLUSION

Appellants present a seemingly uncontroversial issue for the Court's consideration – reversal of a fees order if the underlying contempt order is reversed. But the Contempt Order has not been reversed, which shows that the entire basis for this Appeal of the Fees Order is fantasy. If, prior to the time for decision of this Appeal, the Writ Petition is denied, then the portion of the Fees Order pertaining to contempt must be affirmed. On the other hand, if the Writ Petition is granted, this Appeal should be dismissed to allow Appellants to pursue the proper mechanism for obtaining relief from the Fees Order from the district court under NRCP 60(b)(5).